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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

ROBERT K. WALLS, individually, CASE NO. 16¢cv242-WQH-JLB

Plaintiff, | ORDER
V.

UNIRADIO CORP., a California
Corporation,

Defendant.

HAYES, Judge:

The matter before the Court is the motto dismiss filedby Defendant. (ECH
No. 21).
|. Procedural Background

On January 29, 2016, Phiff Robert K. Walls filed a complaint again
Defendant Uniradio Corp. (“Uniradio”), €alifornia corporation, pursuant to t
Copyright Act, Title 17 of the U.S. CodéECF No. 1). On March 7, 2016, Defend:
filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to FeadeRules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) a
12(b)(6). (ECF No.5). On June 30, 20t Court dismissed the complaint withg
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prejudice on the grounds that Plaintiff failece&iablish federal question subject malter

jurisdiction. (ECF No. 14).

On August 24, 2016, Plaintiff filed tHest amended complaint (“FAC”). (EC
No. 20). On September 14, 2016, Defendded a motion to dismiss for failure {
state a claim. (ECF N@1). On October 10, 2016, Plaintiff filed a respons
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opposition. (ECF No. 22).
[1. Allegations of the Complaint

Plaintiff seeks “damages and injuncgjvelief for copyright infringement unds
the Copyright Act of the United States, 17 I LS8 101.” (ECF No. 20 at 2). Plaint
alleges that Defendant “violated plaintifégclusive rights as copyright owner pursu
to 17 U.S.C. § 106.d.

Plaintiff alleges that he “took the origihmage”, “has ownership and copyrigl
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to the Image”, and “has registered theagra with the United States Copyright Offte

under registration nuber VA 1-789-507.”Id. at 4. Plaintiff includes a copy of th
alleged original image of a wine glass wiiie FAC. (Exhibit A, ECF No. 20-1 at 2

Plaintiff alleges that he “didot consent to authorize, permit, allow in any mannef

use of Images by Defendantld.

Plaintiff alleges that “Defendant willfiyl used Plaintiff's copyrighted work
without his permission and that it publisheommunicated, benefitted through, pos
publicized and otherwise held out to the puldiccommercial benefit, the original a

unique work of Plaintiff without Plaintiff sonsent or authorifyand acquired monetar

gain and market benefit as a resulld. Plaintiff alleges thatUniMexicali, and it's
[sic] respective website, www.unimexicali.com,a portal for news in Mexico, &

provides as a service by Defendantd. Plaintiff includes screenshots of intert

webpages to support the alleged association between UniMexicali and UniradJo wi

the FAC. (Exhibit B, ECF No. 20-1 at 3-Flaintiff alleges that “Defendant used
Image on the business website, www.unirnakicom, from March 11, 2015 to tk
present. (ECF No. 20 at 4-5). Plaintiftindes screenshots of Defendant’s alleged
of the image on the UniMexicali websitetiwthe FAC. (Exhibit C, ECF No. 20-1
7-9).
[11. Contentions of the Parties

Defendant contends that the Court shalituniss the FAC for failure to state

claim pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Bealure 12(b)(6). Defelant contends that
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Plaintiff fails to allege facts connectii@gefendant to the image or the UniMexic
website that allegedly displayed the imadpefendant contends that Plaintiff fails
allege facts as to how Defendant asmxl, used or infringed upon Plaintif
copyrighted image. Defendarintends that the FAC doest allege facts establishir
that Defendant had access t@opied the image and does atlege sufficient facts t
establish ownership of a valid copyright certificate.

Plaintiff contends that the FAC allegesufficient facts to state a claim for

copyright infringement. Platiff contends that the FAC alleges sufficient factg
establish that Defendant hadcess to, copied, published obtnerwise used the imag
at issue. Plaintiff contends that he allegescts sufficient to establish Defendan
connection to UniMexicali. Plaintiff comels that the FAC alleges facts sufficient
infer ownership of a valid copyright.
V. Legal Standard

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6ym&s dismissal for “failure to stat
a claim upon which relief can lgganted.” Fed. R. Civ. A2(b)(6). Federal Rule ¢
Civil Procedure 8(a) provides that “[a]galding that states a claim for relief m
contain . . . a short and plain statemerthefclaim showing that the pleader is entit
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to relief.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). “Aslrrict court’s dismissdbr failure to state &

claim under Federal Rule of @l Procedure 12(b)(6) is proper if there is a ‘lack gf a

cognizable legal theory or the absenceufficient facts alleged under a cogniz
legal theory.” Conservation Force v. Salaz&46 F.3d 1240, 1242 (9th Cir. 201
(quotingBalistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep/ 9901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990)).
“[A] plaintiff's obligation to provide tle ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to relief
requires more than labels and conclusiamsg] a formulaic recitaon of the element
of a cause of action will not doBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y650 U.S. 544, 555 (2007

! Plaintiff provides a copy of the ceitifite of registration for number VA 1-78
507 in the response in opposition to the motmdismiss. (Exhibit F, ECF No. 22
at 12). Plaintiff does not request that thau@ take judicial notice of these documer
The Court does not consider evidence beﬁhe%)leadmgs on this 12(b)(6) motig
Seelee v. City of Los Angele250 F.3d 668, 688 (9th Cir. 2001).
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(quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)). “Torsiwwe a motion to dismiss, a complaint mi
contain sufficient factual matter, acceptedirag, to ‘state a claim to relief that
plausible on its face.”Ashcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotimigrombly
550 U.S. at 570). “A claim has facial p&oility when the plaintiff pleads factu
content that allows the court to draw thasonable inference ttiae defendant is liabl
for the misconduct alleged.d. (citation omitted). “[T]he tenet that a court m
accept as true all of the allegations contadimea complaint is inapplicable to leg
conclusions. Threadbare recitals of #lements of a cause of action, supporteq
mere conclusory statements, do not suffickel” (citation omitted). “When there a
well-pleaded factual allegations, a cowstiould assume their veracity and th
determine whether they plausibly gitrge to an entitlement to reliefld. at 679. “In

sum, for a complaint to survive a motiordiemiss, the non-conclusory factual conte
and reasonable inferences from that contanist be plausibly suggestive of a cldi
entitling the plaintiff to relief.”Moss v. U.S. Secret Serv72 F.3d 962, 969 (9th Cir.

2009) (quotation omitted). “As a general rudedistrict court may not consider a

material beyond the pleadings iing on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.Lee v. City of Lo$

Angeles 250 F.3d 668, 688 (9th Cir. 2001).
V. Discussion
To state a claim for copyright infringement, a plaintiff must allege:
ownership of a valid copyright, and (2) copying of constituent elements of the wo
are original.”Feist Publ'ns, Inc. VRural Tel. Serv. Cp499 U.S. 340, 361 (1991). TI
second element requires a plaintiff to alldgegt “the infringer had access to plaintif
copyrighted work and that the works at issue substantially similar in their protect
elements.”Cavalier v. Random House, In@97 F.3d 815, 822 (9th Cir. 2002).
Plaintiff alleges, “Defendant is husiness entity that unlawfully publish
Plaintiff's copyrighted works without Pldiff's express or implied authority, by th
method of a license.” (ECF No. 20 at Flaintiff alleges thatDefendant used th
Image on its business website, www.unimexicali.coid.”at 4. Plaintiff alleges tha
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the named defendant, Uniradio Corp., i€alifornia corporation that resides a

nd

conducts business in the City of San Diedd. at 1,3. To establish a connection

between Defendant and the a@ésl reproduction of the image ¢
www.unimexicali.com, Plaintiff alleges thatyniMexicali, and its respective websit
www.unimexicali.com, is a portal for news in Mexico, as provided as a servi
Defendant.” Id. at 4. The Exhibits in the FAC include screenshots from var
websites referencing both Uniradio and Unimexi¢glECF 20-1). Construed in th
light most favorable to Plaintiff, Plaintiff alleges facts sufficient to support a reasa
inference that Defendantnssponsible for the allegedausf any copyrighted image ¢
the UniMexicali website.
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To satisfy the first requirement to alleg@nership of a valid copyright, Plainti

f

alleges that he is a photographer tluatktthe original image, has ownership and

copyrights to the image, and has registéhedmage with the United States Copyright
Office under registration number VA 1-789-507. (ECF No. 20 at 4). The Court

concludes that the FAC alleges facts thatméccepted as true are sufficient to sup
an inference that Plaintiff is the holder of a valid copyright.

To state his claim for copyright infringement, Plaintiff must allege
Defendant had access to the imand that the images are substantially similar in
protected elements. Plaintiff allegédsat Defendant “used the image” and t
Defendant “intentionally reproduced the Inedgnd attaches a copy of both the alle
original image and the image allegedlpmeduced by Defendant, which appear ne

ort

that
heir
hat
pjed
arly

identical. The Court concludes that the FAlléges facts sufficient to state a plausible

claim for copyright infringementSee Baxter v. MCA, In@B12 F.2d 421, 423-24 (9
Cir. 1987) (“Absent evidence of access,takeng similarity’ between the works ma
give rise to a permissible inference of copying.”).

2 One webpage, www.unimexicali.com/imictates, “UniMexicali es un port
ﬂe nggcllast e5r)1 Mexicali Baja California Mexic&s un servicio de Uniradio.” (EC
0. 20-1 at 5).
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V1. Conclusion

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the main to dismiss filed by Defendant

DENIED. (ECF No. 21).
DATED: January 3, 2017

Gt 2. A
WILLIAM Q. HAY
United States District Judge
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